

for policy and practice

KNOWLEDGE TRANSLATION RESEARCH PRIORITIES: **AN EVIDENCE SYNTHESIS**

Kathryn Oliver, 2024



Transforming Evidence is an multidisciplinary, cross-sectoral, international community

We aim to connect individuals and organisations who generate, share and use evidence. Our community members include academics, policymakers, practitioners and funders, as well as journalists, think tanks and intermediaries.

transforming-evidence.org

studiomatica

www.studiomatica.design

Suggested citation:

Oliver K (2024). Knowledge Translation Research Priorities: An Evidence Synthesis. Transforming Evidence Working Paper Series No. TE-2024-001. <u>https://doi.org/10.70399/CUZM9777</u>

Available at: <u>https://transforming-evidence.org/projects/priorities-for-knowledge-</u> translation-research-and-practice

CONTENTS

Executive summary	3
Acknowledgments	3
Audience	4
PART1 Background	5
Aim and methods	6
PART 2 Results	9
Overview of trends, gaps and contradictions1	3
Figure 2: Frequency of themes across KT research and strategy prioritisation1	4
KT research priorities1	16
KT strategic priorities2	23
Funding flows for KT2	25
PART 32	27
Conclusions and identification of evidence gaps2	27
There is a need for KT research to inform KT activity across disciplines and sectors	0
A significant amount is known about KT	0
Key lessons from KT research must be shared more effectively	.1
More coordination of funding for KT research and activity is needed	2
Prioritising a research agenda for KT	2
BIBLIOGRAPHY	5

Executive summary

Background: Although researchers, funders and decision-makers share an interest in maximising value from funded research, there is no clear consensus about the ways in which research can most effectively lead to societal impact. As interest in more effective and targeted funding for knowledge translation grows, it is timely to identify priority areas for funding.

Methods: In this report, a synthesis of existing knowledge translation (KT) research agendas is undertaken, using a systematic search to identify studies published since 2014 which used a clear prioritisation method to identify research topics about knowledge translation. Included studies (n = 45) were described in terms of focus, discipline, prioritisation method, and KT research priorities.

Findings: Included studies reported both research priorities, and KT strategic priorities, i.e. areas where more KT activity was felt to be necessary. Overall, the most frequently reported priority was evaluation of KT strategies, with gaps around organisational capacity, leadership and actors identified at all levels. There also seem to be pockets of rich learning about working in different contexts and with different types of KT activities. Several of the reviews identified in this report present systematic assessments of different KT interventions, identifying gaps and clear conclusions. These lessons need to be more effectively mobilised across disciplinary and policy domains.

Conclusions: Overall, the frequency of abstract, high-level topics, often on areas where a significant amount is already known indicates two things: (1) that the KT field needs to work much harder to communicate what we do, and do not know, and to practice what we preach in terms of learning from other stakeholders including researchers from other disciplines, and (2), that further prioritisation is both possible and necessary.

Acknowledgments

With thanks to Bastien Kolt and Tanja Kuchenmuller for their constructive engagement with this report, and the WHO KT Prioritisation working group for their input. All content and any errors are the author's own.

Audience

This report aims to share practical insights from a range of sectors and countries to support greater collaboration across stakeholders funding, otherwise supporting, or carrying out KT research or activity. The report is aimed at anybody with an interest in KT, including researchers, funders, commissioners, and practitioners.

PART 1 Background

Although researchers, funders and decision-makers share an interest in maximising value from funded research, there is no clear consensus about the ways in which research can most effectively lead to societal impact. This is in part a failure of research into evidence use which is frequently repetitive and wasteful. As interest in more effective and targeted funding for knowledge translation grows, the WHO is leading timely work to assess this evidence base and to assess the priority areas for future research funding.

Metaphors used to describe the KT process suggest a set of activities around gathering. interpretation and dissemination of research findings. For the purposes of this report, knowledge translation (KT) is defined as "exchange, synthesis and effective communication of reliable and relevant research results" (EVIPNet, 2023, Topp et al., 2018). Yet, it is widely acknowledged that knowledge translation is only part of the processes which generate, mobilise and use evidence (Oliver and Boaz, 2019b). For example, research into evidence use has convincingly demonstrated that where knowledge users are involved in evidence generation, they are more likely to both find, trust, and use that knowledge (Boaz et al., 2019). The processes by which evidence is made, mobilised and used are intrinsically linked, and are further influenced by the decision-making process (Cairney, 2016). These processes in turn are influenced by the wider science system (Pedersen, 2023), which include incentive and career structures, formal and informal channels for evidence to reach decision-makers, and workforce and resourcing issues. Ultimately, this science-forpolicy system is itself enveloped by the social preferences, norms, structures and dynamics of the society which contains it. For this reason, this report has drawn on the literature on what might be termed 'evidence use studies', which includes concerns about evidence generation, mobilisation and use. In practice, the term 'knowledge translation' is used so widely, and with so little precision, that an umbrella perspective is required to identify relevant research.

Knowledge translation, or the mobilisation of evidence is a concern for most, if not all academic disciplinary areas. Outside of research, all policy and practice domains share an interest in how their decision-making and activities can draw more effectively on knowledge in order to better understand how and where impact can be maximised(Oliver and Boaz, 2019b). Broadly, there are two sets of overarching areas of interest in KT:

• Understanding how to make decision-making more effective. This is the main focus which most disciplinary research holds on knowledge translation. For example, health researchers may be concerned with how their work can most effectively reach and transform the activities of practitioners. In effect, this

could be categorised as 'those wanting to know the key lessons from the evidence use field in order to inform their own KT activities', or 'KT research applied'. As funders, researchers and decision-makers encounter issues with KT, it is all too easy for them to assume that there is an unexplored territory behind their specific query which requires the establishment of a new field, new tools and theories, and – often – new terminology. Naturally, most of these concerns are overlapping and repetitive, leading to a proliferation of research and research agendas which do not accurately reflect the cutting edge of knowledge to be found amongst the wider field.

• Improving our understanding of how evidence is made, mobilised and used. This area focuses on a more 'basic' inquiry into what types of knowledge are produced, by whom, how, and for what purpose; what factors influence how this knowledge travels, and the role this knowledge plays in different processes by different actors. While all disciplines have an interest in this area, for Science and Technology studies, Implementation Science, and a subset of academics from other (often health) disciplines, this is their primary research alignment.

For those in the second group, the siloed nature of evidence use studies has proven to be a frustrating and persistent feature of research in this area. There are three clear tasks ahead for those who wish to promote more effective use of evidence.

Firstly, for those researchers, practitioners, funders and decision-makers who have an interest in KT research, but do not identify KT as a primary object of study, it is essential that the KT field is able to (a) identify **key lessons from the evidence about KT** so that others can put into practice effective KT strategies, and (b) articulate the state of the field to prevent further wasted research efforts and support effective KT activity.

Second, for those who do see KT as a primary object of study, we badly need a crossdisciplinary **research agenda** which accurately reflects what is, and what is not known about how evidence for policy and practice is made, mobilized and used.

Thirdly, we need to bring clarity around **funding and support of KT practice and research**, so that funders are better able to (a) support effective KT by researchers, and (b) fund research into KT where it is needed, pushing forward the quality of evidence use studies.

Aim and methods

In this report, we summarise existing evidence on what is known about knowledge translation priorities, analyse this with reference to what is known about KT strategies

(activity and effectiveness), and with what is known about KT funding. As this is a fastdeveloping field, all analyses consider only data from 2014 and later.

A systematic search strategy for KT agendas and strategies was designed. To be included, articles had to be:

- About knowledge translation. This term is used broadly and variously in the literature, and in this work is taken to mean any process to improve the production, mobilisation and use of evidence for use in decision-making. Thus this would include activities which seek to identify a shared research agenda around joint problems, interaction between stakeholders and researchers to generate insights and analysis, or systems-building approaches to create evidence-using contexts.
- involve a prioritisation process, e.g. priority-setting, research agenda-setting or similar relevant to policies and practice. Commentary and protocols were excluded.
- be published and unpublished since Jan 2014, as (grey) literature, i.e., guidelines, technical reports, policy briefs, conference papers, or websites

Searches of PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar were conducted to identify relevant publications. For Pubmed and Web of Science, a Boolean search strategy was devised, combining index with free terms about knowledge translation and prioritisation: e.g. (research agenda / priority / agenda setting) AND (knowledge mobilisation / engagement / translation / evidence use).

Index terms were included to broaden the search to include knowledge mobilisation and knowledge translation understood as umbrella terms including all interactions between researchers and stakeholders which are intended to facilitate production, mobilisation and use of evidence to improve decision-making.

Full search strategies tailored to each database were included. Google scholar was included to pick up recent publications which had not yet been indexed. For sample search strategies, please see Appendix 1. Websites screened include: https://ktdrr.org/, https://ktdrr.org/.

Analysis

In order to provide an overview of trends, gaps, or potential contradictions among the identified KT research agendas and strategies, a systematic mapping approach was used. Data were extracted from each publication about the primary focus of the study,

prioritisation method, and data collection method. These were used to characterise the research trends around KT research.

In addition, for each publication, data were extracted on research questions or priorities about KT. These were grouped by theme and are summarised below. For ease of analysis, these were divided into KT strategy (i.e. practices and activities which publications identified as priorities) and KT research (identified as evidence gaps for future research). This latter were further subdivided according to the publication primary focus (i.e. KT or other) to enable discussion of the novelty of research priorities.

To identify relevant data about funding of KT research and practices, a brief search was undertaken on google scholar, PubMed and Web of Science to identify publications discussing funding of KT, using a combination of terms, e.g. (Knowledge translation / mobilisation / evidence use) and (funding or research funding or support or strategy).

Once screened, this identified only 5 studies which were collated and reviewed below. These studies were treated separately from the studies on KT research and practice priorities processed through the systematic review.

In addition, it was possible to draw on Transforming Evidence's existing database of initiatives to promote academic-policy engagement which identifies funder-led KT interventions (Oliver et al., 2020). This dataset identified all initiatives run by different organisations in the UK and representative globally aiming to increase academic-policy engagement. Within the dataset of 1944 initiatives, 67 funders were identified as actively supporting initiatives. Of these, 24 fund learning about evidence use and knowledge translation, mostly through supporting research on this topic, although none have published a publicly-available agenda on KT.

PART 2 Results

1941 studies were identified through the searches. After de-duplication, 826 were screened on title and abstract for inclusion. 176 were screened in full text, of which 45 were included in this review (see Figure 1). Forty-five studies were included in the full review.

Figure 1: Flow of studies through the review



Prioritisation methods used were varied. Twelve were systematic reviews, which were included if research gaps were specifically identified (Curran et al., 2022, Edwards et al., 2019, Fazey et al., 2014, Gagliardi et al., 2015, Gagliardi et al., 2017, Jaca et al., 2023, Li et al., 2017, Christensen, 2021, Cvitanovic et al., 2015, Rodríguez-Feria et al., 2022, Shroff et al., 2017, Yamey et al., 2016). Of these, six used additional methods to prioritise research topics, such as interviews, canonical analysis or critical interpretive synthesis. 15 used interviews, focus groups or meetings, 11 used surveys, and seven used formal methods such as Delphi or nominal group technique. Stakeholders in these studies were commonly policymakers, researchers, and practitioners, often from a particular field. Most studies used a

combination of approaches to solicit, rank and prioritise knowledge needs. See table 1 for characteristics of included studies.

Author (year)	Prioritisation method(s)	Primary focus	Country	Participants
Akerlof (2019)	Solicitation, Survey and ranking	legislative science advice	USA, global	Academics, science advisers, and policymakers
Barata (2018)	Consensus conference, KJ method	Emergency medicine	USA	Paediatricians
Barratt (2016)	Survey of healthcare and public health organisations with snowballing sample	Health training needs	UK	Healthcare and public health staff
Bedard (2023)	Consensus activity at conference	Mobility and physical health knowledge mobilisation	Canada	Community health and mobility physicians and researchers
Best (2021)	1.5 day meeting synthesising, prioritising challenges, solutions and action planning	Cognitive and assistive tech researchers	Canada	Interdisciplinary, international team of assistive technology users, clinicians, service providers, and researchers with expertise in power mobility device use and cognition
Boersma (2020)	Steering committee, pairwise matching trends	Penguin conservation	Internat- ional	The Steering Committee of the International Union for Conservation of Nature Species Survival Commission Penguin Specialist Group
Boland (2020)	Dedicated conference, discussion and content analysis	Integrated Knowledge Translation (IKT)	Canada	Researchers, trainees and knowledge users
Calleja (2021)	Conference with laddered discussion sprint and managed follow-up	Infodemics in health	Global	Academics and global public health implementing partners
Camden (2019)	Survey and community forums	Developmental coordination disorder	Canada	Parents of children with developmental coordination disorder, adults with CDC, health professionals and school staff

Table 1: Characteristics of included studies

Author (year)	Prioritisation method(s)	Primary focus	Country	Participants
Christensen (2012)	Review	Expertise and org studies	N/a	Literature review
Curran (2022)	Systematic review	Sexual, reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health	N/A	Literature review
Cvitanovic (2015	Lit review	natural resource management	N/A	Literature review
Cvitanovic (2016)	Evaluation of KT project	Marine conservation	Australia	Conservation practitioners
Edwards (2019)	Systematic review	KT	N/A	Literature review
Fazey (2014)	SR and canonical analysis	Environment	N/A	Literature review
Gagliardi (2014)	Systematic review	КТ	N/A	Literature review
Gagliardi (2017)	Systematic reviews and meetings	IKT	Canada	Researchers and research users
Hennessey (2019)	Nominal group technique	Childhood obesity		Researchers, policymakers, and practitioners
Holzer (2019)	Interviews and focus groups	Conservation	Romania, Spain, Scotland	Stakeholders
Humboldt- Dachroeden (2023)	Survey	One Health (e.g. AMR)	Europe	Policymakers and academics / researchers
Irani (2018)	survey	Innovation	Azerbaijan	University staff
Jaca (2023)	Systematic map and interviews	Health	South Africa	
Jones (2014)	2 day meeting	Acquaculture	UK	policymakers and researchers
Karcher (2023)	Interviews and comparison of priorities	Environment	Australia	Researchers, executives and knowledge users
Kernohan (2018)	Interviews	Palliative Care	Ireland	Researchers
Kietzman (2016)	Focus group	Ageing	USA	Researchers

Author (year)	Prioritisation method(s)	Primary focus	Country	Participants
Kim (2017)	Interviews and documentary analysis	Conservation	Australia	Researchers, practitioner
Kothari (2014)	Stakeholder meeting - group decision support software	Public health	Canada	Public health researchers, practitioners, policymakers
Lal (2015)	Survey with content analysis	КТ	Canada	Trainees
Li (2017)	Systematic review	Health	N/A	Literature review
National Academies (2017)	Committee report	Science communication	USA	Researchers, funders
Newman (2015)	Survey	KT training	Canada	Students, researchers
Oliver (2019)	Delphi	КТ	Global	Researchers, funders policymakers
Ortman (2020)	Roundtable meeting	Cancer care	Europe	Clinicians, health care professionals
Pressaue (2022)	Delphi of KT frameworks	IKT intersectionality	Canada	Implementation researchers/practitioners, MTF experts, and intersectionality experts
Probst (2015)	Stakeholder discussions and meeting	Emergency medicine	USA	Multidisciplinary group of stakeholders
Rasooly (2023)	2 day workshop	Public health	Israel	Policy, health care and NGO stakeholders
Rodriguez (2022)	Literature review and Delphi	leadership for KT	Global	Authors of papers
Rose (2018)	two-stage survey	conservation	Global	Policymakers, conservationists and researchers
Schroff (2017)	Lit review, 2 surveys	Evidence use in LMICs	LMICs	Policymakers and researchers
Shelton (2022)	Survey	Clinical medicine	USA	Clinical Translational Science Award institutions
Stoner (2018)	Delphi and stakeholder meeting	Paediatric emergency medicine	USA	Paediatricians

Author (year)	Prioritisation method(s)	Primary focus	Country	Participants
Tseng (2021)	Review of grant funding	Evidence use	USA	Researchers
Yamey (2016)	lit review	КТ	N/A	Literature review
Yeung (2021)	Survey and modified Delphi	Training competencies for IKT	Canada	clinicians and researchers

Included studies were very diverse in terms of disciplines or domains. 18 focused primarily on health (including emergency medicine, mobility, public health, developmental medicine, Sexual and reproductive health, palliative care, paediatric emergency). Nine were from environmental studies (including penguin conservation, marine conservation, aquaculture), and two from public policy studies (innovation, and legislative studies). The remaining fourteen focused primarily on evidence use, in different ways (leadership in KT, integrated knowledge translation, training for KT, science communication, expertise studies, evidence use in low and middle-income countries).

Overview of trends, gaps and contradictions

Overall, the most frequently reported priority was evaluation of KT strategies. Not all themes were represented in both KT research and KT strategy prioritisation exercises, although there was significant overlap, discussed below (see Figure 2).

Initial analyses identified two groups of studies: those with a primary focus on KT or evidence use, and those with a primary focus on a disciplinary area. Fourteen reported on research prioritisation methods which focused on a non-KT area, but included one or more KT priorities (Barata et al., 2018, Best et al., 2023, Boersma et al., 2020, Kim et al., 2019, Hennessy et al., 2019, Humboldt-Dachroeden, 2023, Kothari et al., 2014, Ortmann et al., 2020, Probst et al., 2015, Rose et al., 2018, Stoner et al., 2018, Jones et al., 2015b, Li et al., 2017), shaded blue in Table 2 for ease of identification.

Those in this secondary set reported primarily on KT strategic priorities, rather than on KT research priorities; i.e. on knowledge mobilisations tasks, activities or plans, rather than on research *about* KT. In practice, the distinction between KT research and strategy prioritisation was not always clear. The rule of thumb used to categorise these themes was whether authors were recommending action around funding, activity or practices, or whether specifically evidence gaps for research were identified.



Figure 2: Frequency of themes across KT research and strategy prioritisation

The distribution of themes across studies primarily concerned with KT, and those which included KT as part of their prioritisation exercise focused on a different topic. A heatmap to visualise the distribution of themes was prepared (see Table 1). Where shaded blue, studies had a primary focus on a field other than KT (e.g. conservation, but reported KT priorities as part of their overall research agenda). For these studies with a primary focus on a non-KT field, by far the majority of priorities are strategies rather than research focused (i.e. about activities and practices, not evidence gaps). Almost exclusively, these studies identified one research priority area, which was about the need for evaluations of KT strategies so that effective and efficient knowledge translation interventions could be implemented in their own fields. Themes were not mutually exclusive (e.g. evaluation overlaps substantially with making, mobilising and using themes) but was pulled out as a specific cross-cutting priority which frequently occurred.

	KT R	KT Research themes					KT Strategy themes										
	Evaluation	Resourcin	Training	Language	Theory	Methods	Making	Mobilising	Use	Resourcin	Training	Careers	CPD	Making	Mobilising	Using	Advocacy
Akerlof (2019)							х	х	х								
Barratt (2016)										х	х				х		
Bedard (2023)	x		х							х	х		х				
Boland (2020)	x			х	х										х		
Calleja (2021)	x				х										х		х
Christensen (2012)						х		х	х								х
Curran (2022)										х					х		
Cvitanovic 2015)	x		х			х		х									
Cvitanovic 2016)										х	х			х	х		
Edwards (2019)	x					х				х	х				х		х
Fazey (2014)	х				х	х		х									
Gagliardi (2014)	x				х												
Gagliardi (2017)	x			х						х							
Holzer (2019)	х									х					х		
Irani (2018)								х			х						х
Jaca (2023)	x									х							
Karcher (2023)	х										х	х					Х
Kernohan 2018)	х									х	х			х			
Kietzman (2016)											х			х			
Lal (2015)	х									х	х						х
NatAcad(2017)	x		х				х	х	х								
Newman (2015)	x				х		x	x									
Oliver (2019)							х	х	х								
Presseau (2022)					х												
Rasooly (2023)	x									х			х		х	х	
Rodriguez(2022)			х														
Schroff (2017)		х													х		
Shelton (2022)			х				х			х	х			х			х
Tseng (2020)					х	х			х								
Yamey (2016)	x								x								х
Yeung (2021)			х														
Barata (2018)	x						х	x							х		
Best (2021)	x		x											х	х		
Boersma (2020)														х	Х		
Camden (2019)	x																
Hennessey (2019)	x																
Humboldt-Dachroeden (23)															x		x
Jones (2014)	x																
Kim (2017)															X		
Kothari (2014)									x								
Li (2017)											x	х		x	x	x	
Ortman (2020)										X							X
Probst (2015)	X																
Rose (2018)										X				X	X		X
Stoner (2018)																	
Total	24	1	7	2	7	6	6	9	7	14	11	2	2	8	16	2	11

Table 2: Heatmap of topics addressed by included studies (blue shading = KT secondary focus)

KT research priorities

In general, improving KT research was felt to be an overarching priority (Barata et al., 2018, Oliver and Boaz, 2019c, Shelton et al., 2022). The unhelpful nature of much of KT research was discussed widely, focusing on research quality, the siloed nature of KT and evidence studies, and the lack of interdisciplinary collaboration. In part this can be attributed to lack of sustained funding for KT research specifically (as opposed to being KT *of* disciplinary research), lack of journals which inhabit a cross-disciplinary space, and the attendant difficulties in building careers.

Table 3: Knowledge translation research priorities

KT research theme (number of studies)	Example topics and questions
Evaluation of KT strategies, initiatives and activities (n = 24)	What works, for whom, under which circumstances: which interventions and strategies are effective, including costs and benefits, role of context and transferability of interventions. Process as well as outcome interventions required, and on replicating and refining existing models and interventions rather than inventing new ones.
	Specific interventions mentioned: how to build and measure effective partnerships, coproduction processes,
	Specific components: actors, platforms, channels of communication; role of training tools; how KT lands with different audiences.
Resourcing (n = 1)	Role of leadership in KT, importance of leadership I enabling effective KT.
Training (n = 7)	What skills and capabilities are needed to effectively support and facilitate KT, at different levels and career stages including at leadership level.
Language and terminology (n = 2)	Common terminology and typologies for KT and evidence use generally
Theory (n = 7)	Need to use theory to inform, design, refine and evaluate interventions. Specific areas for further theoretical development: critical race theory, intersectionality, misinformation.
Methods (n = 6)	Need to improve the quality of KT research by using more appropriate and robust methods.

KT research theme (number of studies)	Example topics and questions
Making (n = 6)	Areas of focus include: how decision-makers and researchers can more effectively collaborate; how they can work with other stakeholders. More specifically, use of reporting guidelines and publication checklists for KT research to improve quality of publications in field. Interdisciplinary research connecting KT research with other relevant bodies of knowledge such as research evaluation, research funding analysis, science policy, science and innovation studies, public policy, science and technology studies.
Mobilising (n = 9)	Role and effectiveness of different actors such as knowledge brokers, experts, leaders. Roles, channels and platforms to improve access to evidence. Consensus, argumentation, rhetoric, sense-making as part of KT process.
Use (n = 7)	Assessing evidence use systems and interventions. Credibility and trust in evidence and experts. Ethics, and transparency. Effect of evidence use on population level outcomes.

Evaluation of KT strategies

Most studies in the review called for improved evaluation, or more frequent evaluation of KT, in different ways (n = 24).

Several studies made high-level calls for improved understanding of which KT interventions and strategies were most effective. For example, there are calls to detail the role of actors, platforms and channels of communication (Calleja et al., 2021), and to assess how scientific information lands with different audiences (Fischhoff, 2019, Jones et al., 2015a). Studies with a secondary focus on KT wished to know the role of training tools (Best et al., 2023), and other interventions to improve translational of knowledge and raise awareness of research (Camden et al., 2019), including costs and benefits (Hennessy et al., 2019, Probst et al., 2015). These calls can be understood as high-level requests for the KT field to better communicate what is already known about conceptual and practical tools to support evidence use in policy and practice.

Amongst studies with primary focus on KT, discussion about evaluation priorities tended to be more nuanced. The role of context on KT activities was a major focus, with a need to understand how transferable KT approaches were (Edwards et al., 2019, Gagliardi et al., 2015, Rasooly et al., 2023, Yamey et al., 2016, Lal et al., 2015, Gagliardi et al., 2017, Newman et al., 2015). As Kernohan (2018) put it, ". A greater understanding of the factors that influence KTE plans among researchers could enable the development of strategies to support this process" (Kernohan et al., 2018).

Evaluations should be designed more intelligently, specifying the intended KT goal (Boland et al., 2020, Fazey et al., 2014), and using this to develop a theory of change. This would then enable evaluations to report on what changed, how, and to what effect (Gagliardi et al., 2015). Repeated evaluations which took account of process as well as outcomes would be particularly valuable (Holzer et al., 2019), not least so that KT strategies can adapt:

"Evaluation will be critical for ensuring that knowledge exchange processes can respond flexibly to new insights so that they may achieve more effective results. In turn, such evaluations are also needed to ensure that practical and innovative solutions to management challenges can be developed and implemented to support adaptive governance arrangement" (Cvitanovic et al., 2015).

In part, this was about using better methods (Ahmed et al., 2023), but also planning to identify appropriate outcomes which might realistically be generated by KT, in order to accurately assess the costs and benefits of these interventions (Cvitanovic et al., 2015).

There was recognition that funders have an important role to play in supporting and conducting evaluations of KT research, and of programmes which include KT elements, by adjusting funding priorities and reporting metrics (Karcher et al., 2023).

Although there is general consensus about the importance of partnerships and collaborations, several studies called for improved evaluation in this space, including: effective indicators of successful partnerships (Bédard et al., 2023), effective processes for partnership formation (Gagliardi et al., 2015)

Another specific focus was around misinformation and 'infodemics', and specific strategies to counter these issues (Calleja et al., 2021). There was a recognition that social media and related large datasets may be important to investigate in order to better understand these issues, with a need to understand how any KT strategy in this area might influence people's attitudes and behaviours (Fischhoff, 2019, Jaca et al., 2023).

Resourcing and leadership

One priority around resourcing research was identified by Schroff (2017): "Leadership and governance was identified by nearly half of all respondents (49%) as the area where most research was needed" (Shroff et al., 2017).

Training

Significant attention has been paid to the activities (Ward, 2017) and competencies of knowledge brokers (Hallé et al., 2023) and those with broader KT activities. A clear gap in the evidence base exists around what skills and expertise are needed to effectively support and facilitate KT (Cvitanovic et al., 2015, Fischhoff, 2019, Best et al., 2023, Shelton et al., 2022), including how these skills can be developed to different levels (Bédard et al., 2023), and at different career stages (Cvitanovic et al., 2015), including at a leadership level (Rodríguez-Feria et al., 2022). There are likely different skills needed to be effective at communicating in different settings and to different audiences (Fischhoff, 2019), in particular the need to develop reflexivity and good team working amongst researchers (Yeung et al., 2021).

Language and terminology

In line with the literature on KT, studies identified the need to a common terminology (Gagliardi et al., 2017), or at least clear definitions (Boland et al., 2020) so that key lessons about KT can be more easily shared across disciplinary boundaries.

Theory

The lack of theory in KT research was widely observed by studies in this review. General calls for improved clarity about theories and frameworks to inform KT practice and research were found in seven studies (Boland et al., 2020, Calleja et al., 2021, Fazey et al., 2014, Newman et al., 2015, Presseau et al., 2022, Tseng, 2021). There was a particular focus on the need for theory to inform interventions, using tools such a theory of change to link inputs to outcomes (Gagliardi et al., 2015, Fazey et al., 2014). As Tseng puts it, "The theory part is important because even if a study focuses on one intervention, theory situates the intervention strategies within a generalizable explanatory framework that is relevant to other efforts. Intervention theories are available in many areas, but they are too seldom brought to the table in initiatives to improve research use." It was also noted that "there needs to be less emphasis on developing *new* KT frameworks/models and more emphasis on testing, refining, and improving those that already exist" (Newman et al., 2015).

Specific theories mentioned as needing further research include: regulatory and ethical principles to mitigate misinformation (Calleja et al., 2021), critical race theory (Tseng, 2021) and intersectionality more generally (Tseng, 2021, Presseau et al., 2022). It is felt that "it is

time to move towards creating teams that bring diverse individuals together to develop KTIS interventions informed by [models, theories and frameworks] that account for intersectionality" (Presseau et al., 2022); that is, that theory needs to inform every stage of KT practice and research.

Methods

KT research is widely described as being poor quality, and much of this is attributed to weak, or poorly applied research methods. Clearly related to the calls for improved theory, Tseng argues we need to improve the methods we use to study evidence use – carefully selecting and justifying choices according to our focus; "which stages, which samples, which measurements" (Tseng, 2021). Specific methods proposed include: deductive and inductive approaches and multi-method approaches (Fazey et al., 2014), realist methods (Edwards et al., 2019), process-tracing, attributed influence and preference attachment (Christensen, 2021), and social network analysis (Cvitanovic et al., 2015).

Making evidence

Although few prioritisation exercises explicitly focused on the whole process by which knowledge is made, mobilised and used, this was nevertheless an intrinsic part of the KT inquiry reported in these studies. Several studies indicated that more research was needed to understand how decision-makers and researchers could collaborate together to define problems and generate evidence together (Akerlof et al., 2019, Barata et al., 2018, Fischhoff, 2019, Newman et al., 2015, Shelton et al., 2022, Tseng, 2021); and, more broadly, how different stakeholders' (funders, civic society, non-traditional researchers) interests influence what research is done (Oliver and Boaz, 2019b). Questions around who is able to participate in research, the capacity and skills required to identify research questions and engage in knowledge production and research prioritisation were also identified (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a).

To improve how KT research is done, reporting guidelines were suggested to help future publications be more informative about how KT happens in practice (Newman et al., 2015). This suggestion is echoed by Oliver & Boaz (2019) in their research agenda which propose a more detailed look at modes of knowledge production, research processes and practices, and production of guidance to generate better, more useful knowledge.

Research on knowledge production focuses on assessing the quality and value of research, on research citation practices and patterns, and on funding decisions and flows. This research is, in general, completely unconnected to KT research, and uses other terms (e.g. research assessment, research evaluation, research on research, science of science) to define itself. This hampers learning across research domains. This is a clear gap which reduces the quality and impact of both sets of research.

Mobilising evidence

Most KT activity, and thus research, is focused on knowledge mobilisation, that is the activities and practices which underpin the movement of evidence from producers to users. Generalised calls to 'improve dissemination' are still quite common (Barata et al., 2018).

Several studies were interested in the roles of different actors within the science-policy system (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a). Akerlof (2019) highlighted the importance of understanding the role of intermediaries of brokers in mobilising knowledge; that is, improving decision-makers' access to relevant information (Akerlof et al., 2019). Others focused on the roles of experts (Christensen, 2021), decision-makers (Fazey et al., 2014) and leaders in advocating for evidence-use systems (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a, Akerlof et al., 2019, Fischhoff, 2019, Irani et al., 2018). Fischoff (2019) focused on understanding how publics responded to scientific information and how communication can thus be improved to reach different audiences more effectively (Fischhoff, 2019).

The role of platforms and channels in facilitating access to information was a key interest. This is aligned with literature from health services which emphasises the need for, e.g. clearinghouses for evidence, although limited evidence of their effectiveness. Here social media and web-based platforms were highlighted (Cvitanovic et al., 2015, Fischhoff, 2019), as were technological solutions to finding and appraising evidence (Newman et al., 2015)... It should be noted again here that although the KT field has identified these topics as priorities, there is of course a substantial literature on how these tools are used, their ethics, biases and public value from other disciplines such as science and technology studies.

Most of the interventions identified as part of this review are focused on knowledge mobilisation (as opposed to the production or use of knowledge) and have been described in the evaluation section above. In brief, strategies to improve knowledge mobilisation identified as priorities include: knowledge commercialisation, fellowships and other people exchanges, intermediaries and brokers, career incentives and other systemic interventions, open science, and toolkits and platforms (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a, Irani et al., 2018). As well as developing and testing interventions, there is a need to better understand the metrics and other measures of research impact, which aligns with the calls above on improving theory and methods.

Oliver & Boaz (2019) also identify argumentation and rhetoric, reasoning and sense-making as a priority area for research, and consensus (scientific and political). Again, these highlevel topics have been heavily investigated elsewhere, but insights from other fields have not been translated into lessons for the KT field.

Using evidence

Perhaps reflecting a growing awareness amongst funders that evidence use is not the same as evidence mobilisation, there has been an increase in research attention to this area – not merely increasing evidence use, but improving the quality of use (Rickinson et al., 2022).

Priorities in this area include:

- better understanding how decision-makers find and assess the credibility of evidence (Akerlof et al., 2019)
- how contextual factors influence how evidence is used, and under what conditions and organisational cultures evidence use influences decision-making (Akerlof et al., 2019, Yamey et al., 2016, Kothari et al., 2014, Tseng, 2021)
- the role of systems to support scientific capability within decision-making contexts, including partnerships, and how aspects of these systems (advisory systems, research units, individual experts) operate and impact on decision-making (Christensen, 2021, Kothari et al., 2014, Oliver and Boaz, 2019c, Tseng, 2021, Akerlof et al., 2019)
- what constitutes credibility (Akerlof et al., 2019, Oliver and Boaz, 2019c, Oliver and Boaz, 2019a), and whether it is damaged by perceived problems within the scientific community (lack of consensus, fraud, reproducibility, conflicts of interest) (Fischhoff, 2019)
- what interventions improve the quality of evidence use, and how? (Tseng, 2021, Oliver and Boaz, 2019a) For example, what is the cost-effectiveness of interventions to improve decision-makers' capacity to "commission, use and monitor research"? (Li et al., 2017)
- The ethics of evidence use, and the importance of transparency (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a)
- Evaluation of changes to policy, practice, and population outcomes to assess the impact of evidence use (Oliver and Boaz, 2019a, Oliver and Boaz, 2019b)

KT strategic priorities

Resourcing for KT

Across thirteen studies, there was a clear demand for more resourcing for KT activities. This included more staffing, especially skilled knowledge brokers (Bédard et al., 2023, Holzer et al., 2019, Rose et al., 2018), more funding for posts and partnerships (Curran et al., 2022, Edwards et al., 2019, Gagliardi et al., 2017, Holzer et al., 2019, Kernohan et al., 2018, Ortmann et al., 2020), educational resources, online platforms and knowledge management systems (Bédard et al., 2023, Cvitanovic et al., 2016, Holzer et al., 2019, Lal et al., 2015, Ortmann et al., 2020, Shelton et al., 2022, Barratt and Fulop, 2016). There was also substantial discussion about the need to create stable, sustainable systems, including incentives and infrastructure, to support evidence use more generally (Barratt and Fulop, 2016, Cvitanovic et al., 2016, Edwards et al., 2019, Lal et al., 2015, Rasooly et al., 2023, Shelton et al., 2022).

Training

Training was also a very common theme, cited across eleven included studies. The dearth of knowledge about KT theory and practice is seen as a major barrier to effective translation of evidence, with training identified as a way to address this gap. General calls for more training and performance monitoring (Karcher et al., 2023) were made alongside specific training needs , which included: KT theory (Kernohan et al., 2018), research skills (Barratt and Fulop, 2016), commercialisation, tech transfer and entrepreneurship (Irani et al., 2018), and dissemination and innovation (Shelton et al., 2022). There was a recognition that organisational and workforce capacity needed to be increased, but that training was only one way to address this need (Cvitanovic et al., 2016, Edwards et al., 2019, Lal et al., 2021, Kietzman et al., 2016, Li et al., 2017).

Careers and continuing professional development (CPD)

Unsurprisingly, therefore, career support and incentives were also called for to support individuals who wanted to build skills in KT (Karcher et al., 2023, Li et al., 2017), recognising also that there was an organisational and systems aspect to this workforce development (Cvitanovic et al., 2016, Bédard et al., 2023), including long-lasting and multidisciplinary academic programmes (Rasooly et al., 2023).

Making evidence

Commentary on this theme was particularly stringent, noting that significant evidence exists about how to produce useful evidence that can be translated into policy and practice. Indeed, much of this evidence has already been turned into principles and guidelines for action (Adams et al., 2021, Fazey et al., 2014, Reed et al., 2014). Within this review, strong strategic priorities included: mapping stakeholders and involving them in developing research questions (Cvitanovic et al., 2016, Kernohan et al., 2018), allocating more funding resources to KT research (Kietzman et al., 2016), supporting more, and doing more collaborative research in general (Best et al., 2023, Rose et al., 2018). There were also, as ever, calls to fund more research in general (Boersma et al., 2020). Li et al(2017) suggest the production of a "…handbook of best practices for understanding the needs of policy and professional decision-makers; identifying the extent to which such best practices are context-dependent, and the means of sharing them between policy, professional and research partners" (Li et al., 2017).

Mobilising evidence

Again, indicating that significant evidence about this theme already exists, sixteen studies called for KT strategic priorities around mobilising evidence. General calls for improvement to evidence use capacity to use and access to research were frequent (Barratt and Fulop, 2016, Best et al., 2023, Calleja et al., 2021, Rasooly et al., 2023, Rose et al., 2018, Shroff et al., 2017), as were specific suggestions around collaboration and engagement, particularly improving how engagement and collaboration are practiced (Boland et al., 2020, Barata et al., 2018) and using participatory approaches (Cvitanovic et al., 2016). Some suggested building researchers networking skills (Humboldt-Dachroeden, 2023), and creating opportunities to mobilise evidence with journalists and editors (Li et al., 2017). There was also a recognition that local context needed to be considered when implementing knowledge exchange (Edwards et al., 2019, Holzer et al., 2019), being aware of politics and power dynamics (Kim et al., 2017).

Using evidence

There is a significant policy literature about science capability within governments (Pedersen, 2023), reflecting the huge increase in attention to science advisory systems over the past 5 years. Studies identified within the review similarly called for professionalisation of the relationships between scientists and stakeholders (Rasooly et al., 2023), and to embed effective capacity-building approaches including attention to leadership, tools, training, and processes for prioritisation (Li et al., 2017).

Advocacy

Interestingly, there was a strong call for leadership and advocacy for KT across included studies. Eleven studies called for leadership at all levels (Calleja et al., 2021, Irani et al., 2018, Karcher et al., 2023, Ortmann et al., 2020), national funding for KT research and activity (Christensen, 2021, Shelton et al., 2022), and coordination and leadership of KT between funders, decision-makers and researchers (Calleja et al., 2021, Edwards et al., 2019, Karcher et al., 2023, Lal et al., 2015, Shelton et al., 2022, Yamey et al., 2016).

Funding flows for KT

Funders are becoming increasingly concerned with understanding how their investments generate societal change. The role of health funders in supporting KT has been a subject of academic attention for several decades (McLean et al., 2018, Tetroe et al., 2008, Hanney and González-Block, 2016). As with research into evidence production, mobilisation and use, funders are siloed by discipline and sector. This is reflected in the language used to describe the relationships between knowledge production and use, the approaches taken to measure impact and much else besides (Abudu et al., 2022). For example, natural sciences and engineering funders talk about innovation and knowledge / technology transfer, whereas health research funders use 'impact' and 'social change' language (Oliver et al., 2020). In a previous mapping exercise conducted for ESRC, we identified 130 funders with long-standing interests in KT, dating back to the Second World War. These included public and philanthropic funders, who ran grant-making programmes (e.g. the William T Grant Foundation, the National Science Foundation through the Science of Science and Innovation Policy Programme), commissioned research and evaluation directly (e.g. the Medical Research Council, the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation), ran collaborative learning networks (e.g. NORFACE by ESRC, the Lenfest Ocean Programme) and supported knowledge exchange activities (Research England, the Open Innovation Team). Of these, only 18 had publicly available evaluations of one or part of a knowledge translation scheme, which were primarily commissioned evaluations by consultancies. We found that funders supported three types of KT activities:

Linear initiatives: Funding research through centres and units with a direct mandate to influence policy and practice such as the What Works Centres, supporting dissemination of research activities (e.g. Impact Acceleration Accounts by BBSRC and ESRC in the UK), and enabling access to evidence through supporting engagement with e.g. Parliamentary consultations;

Relational initiatives: Funding skills-building and capacity-building courses and programmes, supporting people-exchanges such as Fellowships, and supporting strategic partnerships between knowledge users and producers (e.g. RIDE forum which is co-funded by UKRI and the UK government)

Systemic initiatives: Long-term research units to generate policy-relevant research, providing funding for creative activity around evidence use (e.g. HEIF fund in the UK), or advocating for science use in policy.

In line with other literature in the area, we found very little publicly available data about how much funding was made available explicitly for KT activities (McLean et al., 2018, Oliver et al., 2020, Tetroe et al., 2008), or what activity was supported by these funds. As these studies note, effective evaluation of KT to bring more transparency to the funding and support of these activities remains a persistent challenge (Ramos-Vielba et al., 2022). As noted by Tetro (2008), ""best practice" for funding agencies is an elusive concept depending on the particular agency's size, context, mandate, financial considerations, and governance structure." McLean et al (2018) in a long-term study of health research funding for KT found that funders do support researchers to connect with potential knowledge users, but that most commonly, grants are the primary mode of support offered.

However, researchers call for more funding for KT and for applied research in general (Kietzman et al., 2016). Because universities are so heavily incentivised towards funding, it is important for the production of policy-relevant evidence that there are external sources of support. This connects with the discussions above about the need for more strategic support for careers, research, and workforce development in KT.

More practically, Cooper (2018) offers four areas for funders to focus on (Cooper et al., 2017), recognising the critical (if potential) role they play:

1) The need for greater clarity in terminology and guides on how to operationalize KMb and capture research impact

2) Increased need for collaboration among funding agencies, between funders-researchers-users, and between researchers-users

3) Need to move beyond a 'fund and forget' model to a robust and active brokering role for funders focused on capacity and infrastructure building for universities and researchers; and

4) The necessity to target funding that advances the science of KMb so that researchers across discipline can benefit from knowing which strategies and efforts might be more effective with different audiences.

PART 3

Conclusions and identification of evidence gaps

To bring together data on the research, practice, and funding gaps for KT, these themes were mapped against each other, paraphrasing the themes into succinct summaries of the major overall recommendation across KT research and practice themes. The idea of this stage is to allow readers to assess which of these research gaps are genuinely reflective of gaps in the interdisciplinary literature about evidence production, mobilisation and use. Similarly, as a field, we want to be confident that we are recommending KT activity which has been shown to be effective at improving evidence use.

Firstly, in general, there is broad agreement that we need, and that at present there is a dearth of sustained research funding for this field. The overall quality of evidence use research was frequently called into question, with suggestions about how to improve this research including improving use of theory, improving the methods used to study evidence use, use of research publication checklists and reporting guidelines, and, more generally, connecting with and learning from others in this broad interdisciplinary space.

This mapping (see Table 4) is preliminary and based only on the data available from this review. Further analysis of other evidence bases will be required to ascertain:

- Whether these research gaps are genuine, and where there is existing robust evidence
- Whether these practice gaps can be recommended on the basis of existing knowledge
- Where funding priorities for KT currently sit, with whom, and what their impact has been, and
- What consensus might be possible around the identified gaps in this review

This review shows that there is a wide appetite for KT research, from potential users of that research, as well as from researchers of KT themselves.

Identified research priority: What do we need to know?	Identified practice priority: What do we need to do more of?	What is being funded?	Gap?
More research into evidence production, mobilisation and		Limited, responsive funding, usually targeting a specific discipline or field. Anecdotally, proposals often rejected	Coordinated funding for KT research and activity, and coordination and leadership of KT between funders, decision-makers and researchers.
use		supported by executive leadership.	Opportunities to learn and draw out lessons from other relevant bodies of knowledge and disciplines.
How to identify and collaborate more effectively with stakeholders.	Identify and collaborate with stakeholders more effectively, including through participatory approaches	Existing funding streams either completed (e.g. ComPASS by NIH), or limited to responsive mode.	Need for best practice guidelines about how to map, engage with and collaborate with different types of stakeholders.
Better understand the roles, channels and platforms	etter understand Improve decision- Dissemination and e roles, channels makers access to tools, evidence sur ad platforms evidence		Much of the funded activity is around supporting researchers to mobilise knowledge, or to disseminate their own
needed to improve access to evidence		People-exchanges e.g. Fellowships Strategic partnerships and	research. There is less funding for research into or practice of policy- or practice-led knowledge exchange which is essentially
		Collaborations	Need for funding for data and knowledge mobilisation platforms.
Role and effectiveness of different actors such as knowledge brokers, experts, leaders.	Increase organisational and workforce capacity	Funding for people exchanges, which operate mostly on a researcher-led, research-led basis.	Understanding how best to support evidence-using organisations and individuals, identifying which roles are required, and how to build careers within and across organisations.

Identified research priority: What do we need to know?	ldentified practice priority: What do we need to do more of?	What is being funded?	Gap?
What skills and capabilities are needed to effectively support and facilitate KT, at different levels and career stages including at leadership level.	Embed effective capacity-building approaches including attention to leadership, tools, training	Capacity-building courses, programmes and training events for decision-makers	How to identify KT capabilities, and to design appropriate learning approaches at all levels
	Long-lasting and multidisciplinary academic programmes to build KT capacity; Training into KT theory	None identified	There seem to be few dedicated BSc, MSc or Dr level courses to support evidence based KT practice, or build research capacity in this field.
	Training into KT theory research skills, commercialisation, tech transfer, entrepreneurship, and dissemination and innovation.		Potential need for courses, text books and learning resources at all levels.
Assessing evidence use systems and interventions.		William T Grant has a sustained programme of funding on evidence use.	Research comparing evidence use systems across different countries and settings
Role of leadership in enabling effective KT	Better leadership of and advocacy for KT	None identified	Research into, and leadership of KT at all levels
Consensus, argumentation, rhetoric, sense-	Build researchers' skills, including network, sense- making, ethics,	Capacity-building courses, programmes and training events for researchers	

Identified research priority: What do we need to know?	ldentified practice priority: What do we need to do more of?	What is being funded?	Gap?
making as part of KT process.			
Understand roles of credibility and trust			
	Engage with journalists and editors to disseminate evidence	None identified	No identified opportunities, initiatives or funding streams to engage journalists. Intermediaries engaged mostly from academic sector e.g. learned societies.
Costs, benefits process, and outcomes of KT activities, including role of context.	Adapt KT approaches to local context	Implementation science research into components, context, knowledge uptake, etc.	Little available data on costs of different KT approaches to different stakeholder groups
Research into critical race theory, intersectionality.	Be aware of politics, power dynamics and imbalances	STS, sociology and applied research funding into inequities in research and service use; policy studies research into policy process.	
Effect of evidence use on population level outcomes		None identified	Research into impact of evidence use on policy, practice and society
Common terminology and typologies for KT and evidence use generally	Common terminology and typologies for KT and evidence use generally	None identified	Common terminology and typologies for KT and evidence use generally

A number of key lessons can be drawn from this literature:

There is a need for KT research to inform KT activity across disciplines and sectors

The number and distribution of KT strategic priorities identified in this review indicate that there is a demand from many disciplinary researchers who want to know how to translate knowledge effectively into policy and practice changes. There are multiple calls for more resourcing of KT, and support for KT career development and skills building from across these disciplines, as well as high-level calls for more evaluation of KT initiatives. This indicates that KT and social impact is held to be an important tenet across research domains.

A significant amount is known about KT

It is a common feature across KT research to indicate that research is poor, weak, or absent. It is not uncommon for studies to claim that evidence about – for example – the effectiveness of knowledge brokers, or other KT activities is not widely available (72). It is undoubtedly true that developing a field across multiple boundaries has its challenges. Yet, much of the research is repetitive and confirms that features of KT practice are common across these boundaries. For example, factors influencing evidence use seem to be highly persistent across settings and over time (Edwards et al., 2019).

We also have very consistent sets of principles from multiple sources to guide KT research and practice, synthesised into the common list below (Fazey et al., 2014, Reed et al., 2014, Boaz et al., 2018, Nguyen et al., 2020, Plamondon and Bisung, 2019, Topp et al., 2018, Ward, 2017) :

- Do research which is needed, based on stakeholder engagement and evidence synthesis
- Design for multiple types of stakeholders and involve them throughout, in a true rather than extractive partnership
- Select reasonable outcomes, and articulate a theory by which the KT initiative will be expected to generate them
- Develop an inclusive and collaborative way of working which enables shared benefits, responsiveness, and sustainability

- Measure multiple outcomes including unanticipated outcomes
- Embed evaluation throughout, using multiple modes of inquiry to study the process and outcomes.
- Invest time and resources into the process and the people involved
- Engage and communicate effectively and ethically
- Be humble.

Given how detailed, and indeed evidence-based these principles are, it seems hard to argue that more research is needed before KT practices can be routinely embedded into research processes.

Key lessons from KT research must be shared more effectively

There also seem to be pockets of rich learning about working in different contexts and with different types of KT activities. Several of the reviews identified in this report present systematic assessments of different KT interventions, identifying gaps and clear conclusions. These lessons need to be more effectively mobilised across disciplinary and policy domains.

This can be seen in the calls for improved theory, language and methods. Increasing the diversity of terms and methods used can help to improve the precision and quality of the research done about how knowledge is made, mobilised and used. Initiatives such as the William T Grant-funded Use of Research Methods Repository (<u>https://uremethods.org/</u>) can help to share methods, protocols, and tools to do research in this field.

We know that "different cultures and traditions influence or are influenced by the way knowledge exchange is conceptualised, delivered and evaluated" (Fazey et al., 2014). This being so, there needs to be more discussion across these boundaries about what is being studied, how and why – with an explicit attention to interdisciplinary learning. This will require openness and humility on the part of researchers who may frequently find that other fields have generated significant progress in an area which they consider to be novel.

Overall, the frequency of abstract, high-level topics, often on areas where a significant amount is already known indicates two things: (1) that the KT field needs to work much harder to communicate what we do, and do not know, and to practice what we preach in terms of learning from other stakeholders including researchers from other disciplines, and (2), that further prioritisation is both possible and necessary.

More coordination of funding for KT research and activity is needed

There is a large appetite from funders to know how to support more effective use of research investments by supporting more effective KT activities (Tseng, 2021, Buchanan, 2013). Yet most funders which support KT do so in small grants attached to ongoing research projects, or through people-exchange networks. Very few funders have significant research programmes to support research into evidence use, and those which do are focused on particular social sectors. All too often, KT activity is funded through research funding, which conflates the interests of those who want to promote research, with those who want to explore how research is translated.

The lack of unifying strategy between funders affects the quality and extent of research done, prevents sustainable careers being developed, and fails to meet the demand of those who want to know more about how to translate research effectively.

Prioritising a research agenda for KT

Several of the KT research prioritisation exercises identified in this review presented highly detailed, nuanced sets of research areas which effectively built on existing knowledge in the field. It has been outside the scope of this light-touch review to investigate the prioritisation exercises in the depth required, but several very detailed, nuanced research agendas were identified which drew on long-term, substantial efforts to identify true knowledge gaps.

A note of caution – this review only identified agendas relating to knowledge translation, whereas much of the relevant research in this area is labelled otherwise by its practitioners (for example, innovation studies, research on research, research assessment, and so on). A full review of the research agendas across these fields would undoubtedly offer a complementary set of research priorities which are also relevant to this programme of work.

Comparing these findings with evidence about existing KT activity, and evidence on effectiveness of KT interventions would also aid further prioritisation within the broad areas identified in this review.

Based on the findings of this review, we recommend:

- Seeking to build consensus between funders to support KT strategy and research which will be relevant across disciplinary boundaries. It seems likely that there are opportunities for funding efficiencies if collaborative structures can be established. For example, working with groups which have already published in-depth prioritisation exercises, including (based on the findings of this review):
- The Integrated Knowledge Translation Research Network, which published a research agenda based on a colloquium on IKT in 2020 https://iktrn.ohri.ca/ (Boland et al., 2020). This is likely linked to the work done by Anita Kothari elsewhere, e.g. (Kothari et al., 2014)
- The National Research Council of the USA National Academies <u>https://www.nationalacademies.org/</u>, which published "Communicating Science Effectively: A Research Agenda" in 2017 (Fischhoff, 2019)
- INGSA, who work with groups such as Akerlof (Akerlof et al., 2019)on legislative science advice <u>https://ingsa.org/</u>
- CSIRO <u>https://www.csiro.au/en/</u> who have supported multiple projects on evidence use , e.g. (Cvitanovic et al., 2016)
- Transforming Evidence <u>https://transforming-evidence.org/</u> who have published research agendas in this area (Oliver and Boaz, 2019c)
- The Research on Research Use subgroup of the Transfomring Evidence Funders' Network, who seek to improve the quality of research done in this area <u>https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/fact-</u> <u>sheets/2022/04/the-transforming-evidence-funders-network</u>, e.g. (Tseng, 2021)
- EVIPNet call for action: https://www.who.int/news/item/30-12-2021-togetheron-the-road-to-evidence-informed-decision-making-for-health-in-the-postpandemic-era-new-evipnet-call-for-action
- Cochrane Convenes report and call for action: <u>https://convenes.cochrane.org/call-action;</u> https://convenes.cochrane.org/report
- Evidence Commission report: https://www.mcmasterforum.org/networks/evidencecommission#:~:text=The%20Global%20Evidence%20Commission%20report,see% 20also%20the%20executive%20summary

- 2. Seeking existing evidence on the identified research, practice, and funding gaps to ascertain where more research and funding activity is required, and where lessons from existing lesson need to be shared to enable evidence based KT practice.
- 3. **Supporting evidence syntheses** from the KT research to articulate key lessons from the field, and supporting wide and effective dissemination of these results to funders, publishers, decision-makers and researchers across disciplinary and policy domains.
- 4. Identifying groups which have already conducted in-depth prioritisation exercises, and working with them to **triage priorities** based on a cross-disciplinary review of the evidence.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ABUDU, R., OLIVER, K. & BOAZ, A. 2022. What funders are doing to assess the impact of their investments in health and biomedical research. *HEALTH RESEARCH POLICY AND SYSTEMS*, 20.

ADAMS, S. C., SMITH-TURCHYN, J., SANTA MINA, D., NEIL-SZTRAMKO, S., CORMIE, P., CULOS-REED, S. N., CAMPBELL, K. L., PUGH, G., LANGELIER, D., SCHMITZ, K. H., PHIPPS, D. J., NADLER, M. & SABISTON, C. M. 2021. The Exercise Oncology Knowledge Mobilization Initiative: An International Modified Delphi Study. *Front Oncol*, 11, 713199.

AHMED, F., LIBERDA, E. N., SOLOMON, A., DAVEY, R., SUTHERLAND, B. & TSUJI, L. J. S. 2023. Indigenous land-based approaches to well-being: The Sibi (River) program in subarctic Ontario, Canada. *Int J Circumpolar Health*, 82, 2252595.

AKERLOF, K., TYLER, C., FOXEN, S. E., HEATH, E., GUAL SOLER, M., ALLEGRA, A., CLOYD, E. T., HIRD, J. A., NELSON, S. M. & NGUYEN, C. T. 2019. A collaboratively derived international research agenda on legislative science advice. *Palgrave Communications*, 5.

BARATA, I., AUERBACH, M., BADAKI-MAKUN, O., BENJAMIN, L., JOSEPH, M. M., LEE, M. O., MEARS, K., PETRACK, E., WALLIN, D., ISHIMINE, P. & DENNINGHOFF, K. R. 2018. A Research Agenda to Advance Pediatric Emergency Care Through Enhanced Collaboration Across Emergency Departments. *Acad Emerg Med*, 25, 1415–1426.

BARRATT, H. & FULOP, N. J. 2016. Building capacity to use and undertake research in health organisations: a survey of training needs and priorities among staff. *BMJ Open*, 6, e012557.

BéDARD, J., BEST, K. L. & SWEET, S. N. 2023. Physical activity is for everyone: a call to action for education and knowledge mobilisation to optimise the continuum of services for people with mobility disabilities in Québec, Canada. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med*, 9, e001664.

BEST, K., SMITH, E., PELLICHERO, A., SORITA, E., ARCHAMBAULT, P., KENYON, L., LAMONTAGNE, M. E., LEMELIN, B., KIRBY, R. L. & ROUTHIER, F. 2023. International research priorities on the role of cognition in power mobility device use: In pursuit of informed clinical practices and knowledge translation. *ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY*, 35, 119-126.

BOAZ, A., DAVIES, H., FRASER, A. & NUTLEY, S. 2019. *What Works Now? Evidence-Informed Policy and Practice,* Bristol, Policy Press.

BOAZ, A., HANNEY, S. R., BORST, R., A, O. S. & KOK, M. O. 2018. How to engage stakeholders in research: design principles to support improvement. *Health Research Policy and Systems,* 16.

BOERSMA, P. D., BORBOROGLU, P. G., GOWNARIS, N. J., BOST, C. A., CHIARADIA, A., ELLIS, S., SCHNEIDER, T., SEDDON, P. J., SIMEONE, A., TRATHAN, P. N., WALLER, L. J. & WIENECKE, B. 2020. Applying science to pressing conservation needs for penguins. *Conserv Biol*, 34, 103-112.

BOLAND, L., KOTHARI, A., MCCUTCHEON, C. & GRAHAM, I. D. 2020. Building an integrated knowledge translation (IKT) evidence base: colloquium proceedings and research direction. *Health Res Policy Syst*, 18, 8.

BUCHANAN, A. 2013. Impact and knowledge mobilisation: what I have learnt as chair of the Economic and Social Research Council Evaluation Committee. *Knowledge Mobilisation and Social Sciences.* Routledge.

CAIRNEY, P. 2016. The Politics of Evidence-Based Policy-Making, London, Palgrave Pivot.

CALLEJA, N., ABDALLAH, A., ABAD, N., AHMED, N., ALBARRACIN, D., ALTIERI, E., ANOKO, J. N., ARCOS, R., AZLAN, A. A., BAYER, J., BECHMANN, A., BEZBARUAH, S., BRIAND, S. C., BROOKS, I., BUCCI, L. M., BURZO, S., CZERNIAK, C., DE DOMENICO, M., DUNN, A. G., ECKER, U. K. H., ESPINOSA, L., FRANCOIS, C., GRADON, K., GRUZD, A., GüLGÜN, B. S., HAYDAROV, R., HURLEY, C., ASTUTI, S. I., ISHIZUMI, A., JOHNSON, N., JOHNSON RESTREPO, D., KAJIMOTO, M., KOYUNCU, A., KULKARNI, S., LAMICHHANE, J., LEWIS, R., MAHAJAN, A., MANDIL, A., MCAWEENEY, E., MESSER, M., MOY, W., NDUMBI NGAMALA, P., NGUYEN, T., NUNN, M., OMER, S. B., PAGLIARI, C., PATEL, P., PHUONG, L., PRYBYLSKI, D., RASHIDIAN, A., REMPEL, E., RUBINELLI, S., SACCO, P., SCHNEIDER, A., SHU, K., SMITH, M., SUFEHMI, H., TANGCHAROENSATHIEN, V., TERRY, R., THACKER, N., TREWINNARD, T., TURNER, S., TWOREK, H., UAKKAS, S., VRAGA, E., WARDLE, C., WASSERMAN, H., WILHELM, E., WÜRZ, A., YAU, B., ZHOU, L. & PURNAT, T. D. 2021. A Public Health Research Agenda for Managing Infodemics: Methods and Results of the First WHO Infodemiology Conference. *JMIR Infodemiology*, 1, e30979.

CAMDEN, C., MEZIANE, S., MALTAIS, D., CANTIN, N., BROSSARD-RACINE, M., BERBARI, J. & COUTURE, M. 2019. Research and knowledge transfer priorities in developmental coordination disorder: Results from consultations with multiple stakeholders. *HEALTH EXPECTATIONS*, 22, 1156-1164.

CHRISTENSEN, J. 2021. Expert knowledge and policymaking: a multi-disciplinary research agenda. *Policy & Politics*, 49, 455-471.

COOPER, A., SHEWCHUK, S. & MACGREGOR, S. 2017. Social Science Funding Agencies' Promotion and Support of Knowledge Mobilization and Research Impact: An International Study. *Research Informing Policy, Practice and Leadership in Education (RIPPLE) study.*

CURRAN, J. A., GALLANT, A. J., WONG, H., SHIN, H. D., URQUHART, R., KONTAK, J., WOZNEY, L., BOULOS, L., BHUTTA, Z. & LANGLOIS, E. V. 2022. Knowledge translation strategies for policy and action focused on sexual, reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and well-being: a rapid scoping review. *BMJ Open*, 12, e053919.

CVITANOVIC, C., HOBDAY, A. J., VAN KERKHOFF, L., WILSON, S. K., DOBBS, K. & MARSHALL, N. A. 2015. Improving knowledge exchange among scientists and decision-makers to facilitate the adaptive governance of marine resources: a review of knowledge and research needs. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 112, 25–35.

CVITANOVIC, C., MCDONALD, J. & HOBDAY, A. 2016. From science to action: principles for undertaking environmental research that enables knowledge exchange and evidence-based decision-making. *Journal of environmental management*, 183, 864-874.

EDWARDS, A., ZWEIGENTHAL, V. & OLIVIER, J. 2019. Evidence map of knowledge translation strategies, outcomes, facilitators and barriers in African health systems. *Health research policy and systems*, 17, 1–14.

EVIPNET 2023. Concept Note for a WHO Research Priority Agenda on Knowledge Translation. Geneva: World Health Organisation.

FAZEY, I., BUNSE, L., MSIKA, J., PINKE, M., PREEDY, K., EVELY, A. C., LAMBERT, E., HASTINGS, E., MORRIS, S. & REED, M. S. 2014. Evaluating knowledge exchange in interdisciplinary and multi-stakeholder research. *Global Environmental Change*, 25, 204– 220.

FISCHHOFF, B. 2019. Evaluating science communication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 116, 7670-7675.

GAGLIARDI, A. R., BERTA, W., KOTHARI, A., BOYKO, J. & URQUHART, R. 2015. Integrated knowledge translation (IKT) in health care: a scoping review. *Implementation science*, 11, 1-12.

GAGLIARDI, A. R., KOTHARI, A. & GRAHAM, I. D. 2017. Research agenda for integrated knowledge translation (IKT) in healthcare: what we know and do not yet know. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 71, 105-106.

HALLÉ, M. C., BUSSIÈRES, A., ASSERAF-PASIN, L., STORR, C., MAK, S., ROOT, K., OWENS, H., AMARI, F. & THOMAS, A. 2023. Stakeholders' priorities in the development of evidence-

based practice competencies in rehabilitation students: a nominal group technique study. *Disabil Rehabil*, 1-10.

HANNEY, S. R. & GONZÁLEZ-BLOCK, M. A. 2016. Building health research systems: WHO is generating global perspectives, and who's celebrating national successes? *HEALTH RESEARCH POLICY AND SYSTEMS*, 14.

HENNESSY, M., BYRNE, M., LAWS, R., MC SHARRY, J., O'MALLEY, G. & HEARY, C. 2019. Childhood obesity prevention: priority areas for future research and barriers and facilitators to knowledge translation, coproduced using the nominal group technique. *TRANSLATIONAL BEHAVIORAL MEDICINE*, 9, 759–767.

HOLZER, J. M., ADAMESCU, C. M., CAZACU, C., DÍAZ-DELGADO, R., DICK, J., MÉNDEZ, P. F., SANTAMARÍA, L. & ORENSTEIN, D. E. 2019. Evaluating transdisciplinary science to open research-implementation spaces in European social-ecological systems. *BIOLOGICAL CONSERVATION*, 238.

HUMBOLDT-DACHROEDEN, S. 2023. Translating One Health knowledge across different institutional and political contexts in Europe. *One Health Outlook*, **5**, **1**.

IRANI, F. N. H., HAYAK, K. & ASETMAL, E. K. 2018. Identifying and Prioritizing Barriers to Commercializing Researches and Innovations in East Azerbaijan University with AHP Techniques and Providing Appropriate Strategies. *EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT*, 7, 121-140.

JACA, A., MULOPO, C., WIYSONGE, C. S. & SCHMIDT, B. M. 2023. A mapping exercise to identify the strengths, and gaps in knowledge translation activities at Cochrane South Africa. *PAN AFRICAN MEDICAL JOURNAL*, 45.

JONES, A. C., MEAD, A., KAISER, M. J., AUSTEN, M. C., ADRIAN, A. W., AUCHTERLONIE, N. A., BLACK, K. D., BLOW, L. R., BURY, C. & BROWN, J. H. 2015a. Prioritization of knowledge needs for sustainable aquaculture: a national and global perspective. *Fish and fisheries,* 16, 668-683.

JONES, A. C., MEAD, A., KAISER, M. J., AUSTEN, M. C. V., ADRIAN, A. W., AUCHTERLONIE, N. A., BLACK, K. D., BLOW, L. R., BURY, C., BROWN, J. H., BURNELL, G. M., CONNOLLY, E., DINGWALL, A., DERRICK, S., ENO, N. C., GAUTIER, D. J. H., GREEN, K. A., GUBBINS, M., HART, P. R., HOLMYARD, J. M., IMMINK, A. J., JARRAD, D. L., KATOH, E., LANGLEY, J. C. R., LEE, D. O., LE VAY, L., LEFTWICH, C. P., MITCHELL, M., MOORE, A., MURRAY, A. G., MCLAREN, E. M. R., NORBURY, H., PARKER, D., PARRY, S. O., PURCHASE, D., RAHMAN, A., SANVER, F., SIGGS, M., SIMPSON, S. D., SLASKI, R. J., SMITH, K., SYVRET, M. L., TIBBOTT, C., THOMAS, P. C., TURNBULL, J., WHITELEY, R., WHITTLES, M., WILCOCKSON, M. J., WILSON, J., DICKS, L. V. &

SUTHERLAND, W. J. 2015b. Prioritization of knowledge needs for sustainable aquaculture: a national and global perspective. *FISH AND FISHERIES*, 16, 668–683.

KARCHER, D. B., CVITANOVIC, C., COLVIN, R. & VAN PUTTEN, I. 2023. Enabling successful science-policy knowledge exchange between marine biodiversity research and management: An Australian case study. *ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND GOVERNANCE*.

KERNOHAN, W. G., BROWN, M. J., PAYNE, C. & GUERIN, S. 2018. Barriers and facilitators to knowledge transfer and exchange in palliative care research. *BMJ Evid Based Med*, 23, 131-136.

KIETZMAN, K. G., TROY, L. M., GREEN, C. R. & WALLACE, S. P. 2016. Pathways to Advancing Aging Policy-Relevant Research in Academic Settings. *Gerontol Geriatr Educ*, 37, 81-102.

KIM, C., KIM, S., YANG, J. & CHOI, M. 2019. Nurses' perceived barriers and educational needs for early mobilisation of critical ill patients. *Aust Crit Care*, 32, 451-457.

KIM, M. K., EVANS, L., FIDELMAN, P., SCHERL, L. M. & MARSH, H. 2017. Structural factors influencing conservation decision-making: a case of species prioritisation in Australia. *JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT,* 60, 1923-1943.

KOTHARI, A., REGAN, S., GORE, D., VALAITIS, R., GARCIA, J., MANSON, H. & O'MARA, L. 2014. Using an integrated knowledge translation approach to build a public health research agenda. *Health Res Policy Syst,* 12, 6.

LAL, S., SIAFA, L., LEE, H. & ADAIR, C. E. 2021. Priority Given to Technology in Government-Based Mental Health and Addictions Vision and Strategy Documents: Systematic Policy Review. *J Med Internet Res*, 23, e25547.

LAL, S., URQUHART, R., CORNELISSEN, E., NEWMAN, K., VAN EERD, D., POWELL, B. J. & CHAN, V. 2015. Trainees' Self-Reported Challenges in Knowledge Translation, Research and Practice. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs*, 12, 348–54.

LI, R., RUIZ, F., CULYER, A. J., CHALKIDOU, K. & HOFMAN, K. J. 2017. Evidence-informed capacity building for setting health priorities in low- and middle-income countries: A framework and recommendations for further research. *F1000Res*, 6, 231.

MCLEAN, R. K. D., GRAHAM, I. D., TETROE, J. M. & VOLMINK, J. A. 2018. Translating research into action: an international study of the role of research funders. *Health Res Policy Syst,* 16, 44.

NEWMAN, K., VAN EERD, D., POWELL, B. J., URQUHART, R., CORNELISSEN, E., CHAN, V. & LAL, S. 2015. Identifying priorities in knowledge translation from the perspective of trainees: results from an online survey. *Implement Sci,* 10, 92.

NGUYEN, T., GRAHAM, I. D., MRKLAS, K. J., BOWEN, S., CARGO, M., ESTABROOKS, C. A., KOTHARI, A., LAVIS, J., MACAULAY, A. C. & MACLEOD, M. 2020. How does integrated knowledge translation (IKT) compare to other collaborative research approaches to generating and translating knowledge? Learning from experts in the field. *Health research policy and systems*, 18, 1–20.

OLIVER, K. & BOAZ, A. 2019a. Transforming evidence for policy and practice: creating space for new conversations. *Palgrave Communications*, **5**, 1.

OLIVER, K. & BOAZ, A. 2019b. Transforming evidence for policy and practice: creating space for new conversations. *Palgrave Communications*, 5.

OLIVER, K. & BOAZ, A. 2019c. Transforming evidence for policy and practice: creating space for new conversations. *Palgrave Communications,* 5, 1–10.

OLIVER, K., HOPKINS, N., A, BOAZ, A. & CAIRNEY, P. 2020. What works in academic-policy engagement? *Evidence and Policy*, 18.

ORTMANN, O., TORODE, J., SCHMIEGEL, W., THOMSSEN, C., HAKAMA, M., BASU, P., RINGBORG, U. & HELBIG, U. 2020. Knowledge transfer as a tool towards improvement of cancer care in low- and middle-income countries. 6th European Roundtable Meeting (ERTM), June 14th, 2019, Berlin, Germany. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 146, 1813–1818.

PEDERSEN, D. B. 2023. An evaluation framework for institutional capacity of science-forpolicy ecosystems in EU Member States,. *In:* KRIEGER, K. & MELCHOR FERNANDEZ, L. (eds.). Luxembourg.

PLAMONDON, K. M. & BISUNG, E. 2019. The CCGHR Principles for Global Health Research: Centering equity in research, knowledge translation, and practice. *Social Science & Medicine*, 239, 112530.

PRESSEAU, J., KASPERAVICIUS, D., RODRIGUES, I. B., BRAIMOH, J., CHAMBERS, A., ETHERINGTON, C., GIANGREGORIO, L., GIBBS, J. C., GIGUERE, A., GRAHAM, I. D., HANKIVSKY, O., HOENS, A. M., HOLROYD-LEDUC, J., KELLY, C., MOORE, J. E., PONZANO, M., SHARMA, M., SIBLEY, K. M. & STRAUS, S. 2022. Selecting implementation models, theories, and frameworks in which to integrate intersectional approaches. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 22, 212. PROBST, M. A., DAYAN, P. S., RAJA, A. S., SLOVIS, B. H., YADAV, K., LAM, S. H., SHAPIRO, J. S., FARRIS, C., BABCOCK, C. I., GRIFFEY, R. T., ROBEY, T. E., FORTIN, E. M., JOHNSON, J. O., CHONG, S. T., DAVENPORT, M., GRIGAT, D. W. & LANG, E. L. 2015. Knowledge Translation and Barriers to Imaging Optimization in the Emergency Department: A Research Agenda. *Acad Emerg Med*, 22, 1455-64.

RAMOS-VIELBA, I., THOMAS, D. & AAGAARD, K. 2022. Societal targeting in researcher funding: An exploratory approach. *Research Evaluation*, 31, 202.

RASOOLY, A., BEN-SHELEG, E., DAVIDOVITCH, N. & ELLEN, M. 2023. Rethinking the path from evidence to decision-making. *Isr J Health Policy Res*, 12, 10.

REED, M. S., STRINGER, L. C., FAZEY, I., EVELY, A. C. & KRUIJSEN, J. H. 2014. Five principles for the practice of knowledge exchange in environmental management. *Journal of environmental management*, 146, 337–345.

RICKINSON, M., CIRKONY, C., WALSH, L., GLEESON, J., CUTLER, B. & SALISBURY, M. 2022. A framework for understanding the quality of evidence use in education. *Educational Research*, 64, 133.

RODRÍGUEZ-FERIA, P., FLÓREZ, L. J. H. & CZABANOWSKA, K. 2022. Leadership Competencies for Knowledge Translation in Public Health: A consensus study. *J Public Health (Oxf)*, 44, 926-935.

ROSE, D. C., SUTHERLAND, W. J., AMANO, T., GONZÁLEZ-VARO, J. P., ROBERTSON, R. J., SIMMONS, B. I., WAUCHOPE, H. S., KOVACS, E., DURÁN, A. P., VADROT, A. B. M., WU, W., DIAS, M. P., DI FONZO, M. M. I., IVORY, S., NORRIS, L., NUNES, M. H., NYUMBA, T. O., STEINER, N., VICKERY, J. & MUKHERJEE, N. 2018. The major barriers to evidence-informed conservation policy and possible solutions. *Conserv Lett*, 11, e12564.

SHELTON, R. C., DOLOR, R. J., TOBIN, J., BAUMANN, A., ROHWEDER, C., PATEL, S. & BALDWIN, L. M. 2022. Dissemination and implementation science resources, training, and scientific activities provided through CTSA programs nationally: Opportunities to advance D&I research and training capacity. *J Clin Transl Sci*, 6, e41.

SHROFF, Z. C., JAVADI, D., GILSON, L., KANG, R. & GHAFFAR, A. 2017. Institutional capacity to generate and use evidence in LMICs: current state and opportunities for HPSR. *HEALTH RESEARCH POLICY AND SYSTEMS*, 15.

STONER, M. J., MAHAJAN, P., BRESSAN, S., LAM, S. H. F., CHUMPITAZI, C. E., KORNBLITH, A. E., LINAKIS, S. W., ROLAND, D., FREEDMAN, S. B., NIGROVIC, L. E., DENNINGHOFF, K., ISHIMINE, P. & KUPPERMANN, N. 2018. Pediatric Emergency Care Research Networks: A Research Agenda. *Acad Emerg Med*, 25, 1336-1344.

TETROE, J. M., GRAHAM, I., FOY, R., N, R., ECCLES MP, WENSING, M., DURIEUX P, F, L., C, N., A, A., J, W., C, P., B, S. & GRIMSHAW, J. 2008. Health Research Funding Agencies' Support and Promotion of Knowledge Translation: An International Study. *Milbank Quarterly*, 86, 125.

TOPP, L., MAIR, D., SMILLIE, L. & CAIRNEY, P. 2018. Knowledge management for policy impact: the case of the European Commission's Joint Research Centre. *Palgrave Communications,* 4, 1–10.

TSENG, V. 2021. Research on Research Use: Building Theory, Empirical Evidence, and a Global Field. *William T Grant Foundation: Digest,* Winter 2021-22.

WARD, V. 2017. Why, whose, what and how? A framework for knowledge mobilisers. *Evidence and Policy*, 13, 477-497.

YAMEY, G., HORVATH, H., SCHMIDT, L., MYERS, J. & BRINDIS, C. D. 2016. Reducing the global burden of Preterm Birth through knowledge transfer and exchange: a research agenda for engaging effectively with policymakers. *Reprod Health*, 13, 26.

YEUNG, E., SCODRAS, S., SALBACH, N. M., KOTHARI, A. & GRAHAM, I. D. 2021. Identifying competencies for integrated knowledge translation: a Delphi study. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 21, 1181.

Appendix 1: Search strategies, conducted December 2023

Pubmed

("research agenda"[Title/Abstract] OR ("prioritisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "prioritised"[Title/Abstract] OR "prioritized"[Title/Abstract] OR "agendasetting"[Title/Abstract]) AND ("knowledge management"[MeSH Terms] OR ("knowledge translation"[All Fields] OR "knowledge exchange"[All Fields] OR "knowledge communication"[All Fields] OR "evidence translation"[All Fields] OR "knowledge mobilisation"[All Fields] OR "science communication"[All Fields] OR ("knowledge mobilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge exchange"[Title/Abstract] OR (("evidence"[All Fields] OR "evidences"[All Fields] OR "evident"[All Fields] OR ("evidence"[All Fields] OR "evidences"[All Fields] OR "evident"[All Fields] OR ("evidence"[All Fields] OR "evidences"[All Fields] OR "evident"[All Fields] OR "evidently"[All Fields]) AND "mobilisation"[Title/Abstract]) OR "knowledge transfer"[Title/Abstract] OR "evidence uptake"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge uptake"[Title/Abstract] OR "evidence use"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge uptake"[Title/Abstract] OR "evidence use"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge uptake"[Title/Abstract] OR "evidence use"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge uptake"[Title/Abstract] OR "evidence use"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge use"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract] OR "knowledge use"[Title/Abstract]] OR "knowledge utilisation"[Title/Abstract]] OR

359

((((TI=(priority-setting)) OR AB=(priority-setting)) OR ALL=(prioritisation)) OR ALL=(prioritization)) OR TS=(agenda- setting)	<u>44,841</u>
((TS=(knowledge mobilisation)) OR TI=(knowledge mobilisation)) OR AB=(knowledge mobilisation)	<u>5,088</u>
#10 OR #9	<u>67,085</u>
#8 OR #7 OR #6 OR #5 OR #3 OR #2	<u>62,439</u>
((TS=("Evidence utili*")) OR TI=("Evidence utili*")) OR AB=("Evidence utili*")	147

Web of Science

((TS=("Evidence use")) OR TI=("evidence use")) OR AB=("evidence use")	<u>451</u>
(TI=(knowledge exchange)) OR AB=(knowledge exchange)	<u>30,800</u>
(AB=(knowledge translation)) OR TI=(knowledge translation)	<u>19,373</u>
#13 AND #11 and 2024 or 2023 or 2022 or 2021 or 2020 or 2019 or 2018 or 2017 or 2016 or 2015 or 2014 (Publication Years)	<u>206</u>

Google scholar: first 100 screened